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Early one morning, an OSHA Compliance Safety & Health Officer arrives unannounced at your place
of business requesting an immediate inspection of your work place, interviews of your employees and
a review of safety-related documentation. What do you need to do? What don’t you need to do?
Do take the situation seriously. An OSHA inspection can be the beginning of a civil or even criminal
legal process that can have significant adverse financial consequences for your business.
Don’t panic. A calm, rational and informed response is the best strategy for managing the risks of an
OSHA inspection.
Don’t assume there is nothing you can do. There are rights and strategies which an employer can
exercise before, during and after an OSHA inspection to minimize the risk or magnitude of adverse
consequences for your business.
Don’t assume there is nothing you need to do. Complacency about the safety of your workplace can
be shattered quickly during the course of an OSHA inspection.
Do act quickly. Decisions regarding an inspection must be made in minutes, not hours or days. Asking
OSHA to come back when you are ready may not be a viable or recommended option.
Do educate yourself about OSHA inspections. Being informed about the stakes, process and rights of
an inspection, and recommendations and strategies for responding to an inspection, is an essential
first step toward surviving an OSHA inspection.
The limited purpose of this handbook is to answer basic questions regarding an OSHA investigation
for small and medium sized business which have little or no experience planning for or undergoing
OSHA inspections. In this regard, the handbook is intended to be used as (1) a starting point for an
employer who is preparing a contingency plan for an OSHA inspection, or (2) a first resource for
responding to an OSHA inspection. The handbook should not be regarding as the exclusive resource
for either purpose.
The handbook is also not intended to provide or be relied upon as legal advice in general or with
respect to any particular factual scenario. Such legal advice should be obtained directly from legal
counsel with OSHA experience.
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PART I: PRE-INSPECTION QUESTIONS
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BASIC QUESTIONS
1.

What is OSHA?
The Occupational Safety & Health Administration (“OSHA”) is a federal agency of the U.S.
Department of Labor responsible for the administration of the Occupational Safety & Health Act
(“OSH Act”). OSHA’s responsibilities include (a) the promulgation of safety & health standards,1
(b) the enforcement of these standards and the OSH Act through inspections and investigations, 2
and (c) the proposal and collection of civil penalties for such violations.3

2. Does OSHA have jurisdiction over small employers with 10 or fewer employees?
Yes. The OSH Act applies to any “person engaged in a business affecting commerce who has
employees …”4 An exception applies to a farming operation which (a) employs 10 or fewer
employees (currently and at all times during the last 12 months); and (b) has not had an active
temporary labor camp during the preceding 12 months.5

3. Does OSHA have the legal authority to conduct an inspection of an employer’s
worksite?
Yes. The OSH Act expressly provides that OSHA is authorized:
“(1) To enter without delay at reasonable times any factory, plant, establishment, construction
site or other area, workplace or environment where work is performed by an employee of an
employer; and
(2) to inspect and investigate during regular working hours and at other reasonable times, and
within reasonable limits and in a reasonable manner, any such place of employment and all
pertinent conditions, structures, machines, apparatus, devices, equipment, and materials …”6

4. Does OSHA have the legal authority to interview an employer’s employees?
Yes. The OSH Act expressly provides that, as part of an inspection of an employer, OSHA may
“question privately any such employer, owner, operator, agent or employee.”7
OSHA has
8
subpoena authority to compel a witness to provide testimony. The authority to conduct
interviews includes both management and non-management employees.

1

29 U.S.C. § 655(a)

2

29 U.S.C. § 658

3

29 U.S.C. § 666(l); 29 C.F.R. § 1903.15

4

29 U.S.C. § 652(5)

5

CPL 02-00-051

6

29 U.S.C. § 657(a)

7

Id.

8

29 U.S.C. § 657(b)
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5. Does OSHA have the legal authority to inspect an employer’s records?
Yes, but certain smaller employers may be exempt from maintaining illness and injury
records. The OSH Act requires an employer to “make available” records which the Act requires
be created and maintained by certain employers.9 OSHA has subpoena authority to compel the
production of records.10

6. Does OSHA have the legal authority to inspect areas or devices which an employer
considers to be trade secrets?
Yes, if the areas or devices bear an “appropriate relationship” to the inspection. OSHA,
however, has an obligation to protect the confidentiality of trade secrets identified by the
employer during the inspection.11
7.

Can an employer deny OSHA access to its worksite without a search warrant?
Yes, but there are exceptions. The Supreme Court has determined that, absent consent, an
OSHA inspection can generally be conducted only in accordance with a search warrant signed by
a judge.12 A search warrant is not necessary, however, if (a) the worksite is located on public
property, (2) the worksite is observable from public property,13 (3) consent to an inspection has
already been provided by a person or entity which owns or controls the property on which the
worksite is located,14 (4) emergency conditions exist which do not allow time to obtain a search
warrant,15 or (5) OSHA has already been provided access to the worksite.16

8. Is OSHA legally required to provide advance notice to an employer regarding a
request for a search warrant as to an inspection?
No. Search warrants are generally obtained by the Regional Solicitor of Labor’s office before a
federal judge ex parte without the participation of the employer sought to be inspected.17

9. Is OSHA legally required to provide advance notice to an employer of an
inspection?
No. With limited exceptions, the OSHA Act general prohibits the giving of advance notice of
inspections.18
9

29 U.S.C. § 657(c)

10

29 U.S.C. 657(b)

11

29 U.S.C. § 664

12

Marshall v. Barlow’s, Inc. 436 U.S. 307 (1978)

13

Id.

14

Donovan v. Dewey,452 U.S. 594 (1981)

15

Camara v. Municipal Court, 387 U.S. 523 (1967)

16

Michigan v. Tyler, 436 U.S. 499 (1976)

17

29 C.F.R. § 1903.4

18

29 U.S.C. § 666(f)
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10. Are there state equivalents of OSHA?
Yes. Presently, there are 27 states and territories with OSHA approved occupational safety &
health plans: Alaska, Arizona, California, Connecticut, Hawaii, Illinois, Indiana, Iowa, Kentucky,
Maryland, Michigan, Minnesota, Nevada, New Jersey, New Mexico, New York, North Carolina,
Oregon, Puerto Rico, South Carolina, Tennessee, Utah, Vermont, Virgin Islands, Virginia,
Washington and Wyoming. State law is beyond the scope of this handbook.

11. What is the Occupational Safety & Health Review Commission?
The Occupational Safety & Health Review Commission (“OSHRC”) is an independent
commission empowered to (a) assess penalties under the OSH Act, 19 and (b) adjudicate
enforcement disputes under the OSHA.20

19

29 U.S.C. § 666(j)

20

29 U.S.C. § 661(g)
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WHO IS CONDUCTING THE INSPECTION ON
BEHALF OF OSHA?
An inspection is conducted by a Compliance Safety and Health Officer (“CSHO”) employed by the
agency.

Types of CSHOs
There are three types of CSHO’s.
*

Safety Engineers

*

Safety Compliance Officers

*

Industrial Hygienists

Preparation for Inspection
Before arriving at an employer’s worksite, the CSHO may have already conducted research regarding
the following:
*

Ownership and control of the worksite.

*

The worksite’s inspection history.

*

The type of work performed at the worksite.

Credential Card
A CSHO must have a credential card. The card verifies the CSHO’s credentials and employment by
OSHA.

Limited Authority
The CSHO only has the authority to conduct an investigation of an employer’s workplace. The CSHO
has no authority to order an employer to:
*

Cease or modify a work operation.

*

Eliminate an alleged work hazard.

7|Page

WHY IS OSHA AT MY WORK SITE?
One or more reasons may form the basis for an inspection of a particular worksite.

Employee Fatality
An employee fatality resulting from a work-related incident or exposure will generally prompt an
OSHA inspection of the work site where the incident or exposure occurred. Indeed, an employer is
required to notify OSHA of such a fatality within 8 hours.21

Work-Related In-Patient Hospitalizations
The in-patient hospitalization of an employee from a work-related incident or exposure may
prompt an inspection of the work site where the incident or exposure occurred. Indeed, an employer
is required to notify OSHA of the in-patient hospitalization within 24 hours.22

Direct Observation
An inspection may be prompted by a workplace hazard or violation observed directly by a CSHO
who is at or near the worksite, or who may be simply driving by.

Formal Employee Complaint
OSHA has a procedure whereby a current or former employee can file a formal complaint alleging
safety or health hazards.23 The agency can initiate an inspection to investigate the allegations of
a formal employee complaint.

Informal Complaint
If certain criteria are met, an informal or anonymous complaint may trigger an OSHA
investigation.

Referral
An inspection may follow a referral by one of the following sources alleging a safety or health hazard:
*

Other government agencies, including other safety and health agencies, and local police and fire
departments;

*

A media report;

*

An accident report by an employer; and

*

A complaint by a current or former employee alleging discrimination for complaining of a hazard.

21

29 C.F.R. § 1904.39

22

Id.

23

29 U.S.C. § 657(f)
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Programmed Inspection
Programmed inspections are those which have been scheduled based upon certain selection criteria.
Specific worksites are selected according to national scheduling plans or under special or local
emphasis programs.

Multi-Employer Worksite
An inspection of an employer at a multi-employer work site may be prompted by an inspection of
another employer at the site.

Follow-Up Inspection
The purpose of an inspection may be to determine whether the employer has abated hazards
discovered during a previous inspection.

9|Page

SHOULD OSHA BE AT MY WORK SITE?
Unless one of four circumstances applies, there is no legal bar to an inspection of a worksite.

Employer Subject to Other Regulations
OSHA does not have jurisdiction over working conditions which are subject to another federal
agency’s regulations.24 Working conditions over which other federal agencies have exclusive
jurisdiction include those at airlines, mines, government contractors, motor carriers and railroads.

Small Employers
Although an employer with 10 or fewer employees is still subject to the OSH Act, it is exempt from
programmed inspections if it meets the following criteria: (a) it employs 10 or fewer employees
currently and at all times during the last 12 months; and (b) the lost workday case rate for its primary
SIC work activity is below the all-industry national average. (See Appendix A for listings.) 25

Safety and Health Achievement Recognition Program (“SHARP”)
An employer who participates in the SHARP program is exempted from OSHA programmed
inspections during the employer’s participation in the program.

Voluntary Protection Program (“VPP”)
An employer who participates in the VPP program is exempted from OSHA programmed inspections
during the employer’s participation in the program.

24

29 U.S.C. § 563(b)(1)

25

CPL 02-00-051
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WHAT IS OSHA LOOKING FOR?
OSHA is looking not only for evidence of workplace hazards and OSH Act violations, but also for
evidence revealing the employer’s attitude toward employee health and safety.

Injury and Illness Records
Unless an applicable exemption applies, all employers are generally required to make and maintain
records of workplace injuries and illnesses on forms mandated by OSHA.26 These records can indicate
whether hazardous working conditions exist at the employer.

OSH ACT Violations
OSH Act violations can be in the form of hazardous working conditions, inadequate training of
employees, failure to comply with record-keeping obligations prescribed by OSHA or employer
misconduct. There are several types of OSH Act violations.
De Minimus Violation: The employer has implemented a measure different from the one
specified in the standard, that has no direct or immediate relationship to safety or health.27
Non-Serious Violation: The violation does not present a risk of death or serious physical harm.
Serious Violation: There is a substantial probability that death or serious physical harm could
result from the hazardous condition presented by the violation, and the employer knew, or should
have known, of the condition.28
Willful Violation: The employer has demonstrated either an intentional disregard for the
requirements of the OSH Act or a plain indifference to employee safety and health.
Repeat Violation: The employer has been previously cited for the same or substantially similar
condition or hazard.
Failure to Abate Violation: The employer has been previously cited for a hazardous condition
which has not been corrected.29
Criminal/Willful Violation: A criminal/willful violation is a willful violation of an OSHA
standard which causes the death of an employee.30
Other Criminal Violations: Other criminal violations of the OSH Act include (a) giving an
employer advance notice of an inspection,31 and (b) knowingly giving false information to OSHA
in a document required by the OSH Act.32

26

29 C.F.R. § 1904. The scope of applicable record-keeping exemptions is beyond the scope of this publication.

27

29 U.S.C. § 658(a)

28

29 U.S.C. § 666(k)
29 U.S.C. § 666(d)

29
30

29 U.S.C. § 666(e)

31

29 U.S.C. § 666(f)

32

29 U.S.C. § 666(g)
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Employer’s Attitude Toward Employee Health and Safety
Whether an employer prioritizes or merely pays lip service to employee health and safety can generally
be discerned from the employer’s health and safety program, if any.
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WHY SHOULD I BE CONCERNED ABOUT AN OSHA
INSPECTION OF MY WORK SITE?
An OSHA inspection is the beginning of a legal process which can ultimately result in significant civil
and/or criminal liability for an employer found to be in alleged violation of the OSH Act.

Monetary Penalties Will be Assessed for Most Types of Alleged OSH Act Violations
The only OSH Act violations which can escape a monetary penalty are de minimus and “other than
serious” violations. All other types of violations have minimum monetary penalties. Even for an “other
than serious violation, a monetary penalty can still be generally assessed.
Up to $70,000 for Willful or Repeat Violations: Civil penalties can be up to $70,000 for a
willful or repeated violation of the OSH Act and not less than $5,000 for a willful violation.33
Up to $7,000 for Serious and Other than Serious Violations: Proposed civil penalties can be up
to $7,000 per violation for a serious violation, other than serious violation, or a posting violation. 34
Up to $7,000 per Day for Failure to Abate Violations: Proposed civil penalties for a failure to
abate violation can be up to $7,000 for each day a hazard remains unabated.35
Mitigation of Penalty: Generally, there is nothing an employer can do to during an inspection to
avoid a penalty for a violation with minimum penalties. Correcting a hazard during an inspection,
however, can help reduce a proposed penalty.

Penalties for Alleged OSH Act Violations Can be Multiplied
Generally, a single penalty is appropriate for a single OSH Act violation or hazard. Under certain
approaches, however, multiple penalties can be assessed.
Multiple Hazards: Under this approach, separate penalties are assessed for each hazard created
by a single OSH Act violation.
Employee-by-Employee Approach: Under certain OSHA standards, an employer’s acts or
omissions can be treated as a separate violation for each affected employee.
Single Hazard Resulting From Multiple Violations: For egregious violations, a single hazard
can result in a penalty for each OSHA standard violated in conjunction with the hazard.
Multiple Establishments or Worksites: Where an OSHA standard is violated at more than one
establishment or worksite of the same employer, each establishment or worksite can be
considered a separate violation.
Multiple Employers: A single hazard at a worksite or establishment controlled by more than one
employer can result in a citation to each employer.

33

29 U.S.C. § 666(a)

34

29 U.S.C. §§ 666(b), (c) & (i)

35

29 U.S.C. § 666(d)
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Failure to Abate: Failure to abate penalties can be assessed for each calendar day that a violation
has continued unabated.

Aggregate Monetary Penalties Can Be Significant
The amount of aggregate penalties varies with each inspection. Especially where multiple or willful
violations are alleged aggregate penalties for OSH Act violations can exceed $100,000, or in rare cases,
$1,000,000.

OSH Act Violations Must be Abated
Except where a violation is abated during the inspection, an OSH Act violation must be corrected or
abated within a specified time period.36

Methods of Abatement Can be Complex and Costly
To be sure, for some hazards cited by OSHA, a simple and inexpensive abatement will eliminate or
reduce the hazard. For some hazards, a time-consuming and expensive method of abatement will be
required to eliminate or reduce the hazard. Some employers may learn that a proposed monetary
penalty is less than the cost of bringing the workplace into compliance with the OSH Act.

Imminent Danger
For violations or hazards which present an imminent danger of death or serious physical harm, OSHA
can seek injunctive relief in court including a temporary restraining order if the employer does not
immediately abate the hazard.37

Criminal Prosecution
A criminal violation of the OSH Act may be considered for criminal prosecution by the U.S.
Department of Justice.

36

29 C.F.R. § 1903.19

37

29 U.S.C. § 662
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WHAT INITIAL STEPS SHOULD BE TAKEN NOW
THAT OSHA IS AT MY WORK SITE?
It is important to safeguard the employer’s interests immediately upon the arrival of the CSHO at the
worksite, even before any decision has been made by the employer as to the requested inspection. To
this end, certain protocols should be followed by every employer.

Be Professional and Courteous
Whoever initially greets the CSHO should be professional and courteous. The employer gains nothing
by being antagonistic, defensive or rude.

Communicate With CSHO Through a Management Representative Only
Other than initial greetings, there should be no meaningful communications between a nonmanagement employee and the CSHO.
Designated Representative(s): Ideally, an employer should train one or more designated
management representatives to communicate with OSHA in the event of an inspection.
Health or Safety Compliance Representative(s): If no management representative has been
designated beforehand, a management official whose responsibilities include health and safety
compliance should be communicating with OSHA.

Deny CSHO Entry to Worksite Pending Arrival of Management Representative
If a management representative is not immediately available, the CSHO should be politely asked to
wait outside the employer’s premises or in a waiting area on the employer’s premises. No nonmanagement employee should be communicating with the CSHO, or making any decisions on behalf
of the employer, even if this means the CSHO must wait or return with a search warrant.

Inspect CSHO’s Credentials
Normally, a CSHO will always present his/her credentials upon arriving at an employer’s worksite.
The OSH Act requires as much.38 A person who does not present his/her OSHA credentials should
not be permitted entry.

Find A Place for CSHO and Management Representative to Talk
Initial communications between the CSHO and a management representative should be in a setting
which meets the following criteria:
Private: At least until a determination can be made as to if or how an inspection will proceed, the
only communications should be between the CSHO and the management representative.
No Plain View: No meeting should take place where there is a plain view of the employer’s
operations. A CSHO can issue a citation for any OSH Act violation in plain sight even if the
inspection is ultimately refused or limited to other areas.
38

29 U.S.C. § 657(a)
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DO I NEED TO CONSULT A LAWYER?
Ideally, legal counsel should be present during any OSHA inspection. There are several reasons to
contact a lawyer immediately upon the arrival of a CSHO at the worksite.

Many Alleged OSHA Violations Can be Defended
Several legal options can be available to an employer who is accused by OSHA of an OSH Act
violation. These options include challenges to, and mitigation, of alleged violations, proposed penalties
and proposed abatement dates. In many instances, an employer will need the assistance of legal
counsel to weigh these options.

Defense of an Alleged OSH Act Violation Begins at the Time of Inspection
Although an alleged OSH Act violation will not be acted upon by OSHA until after the inspection, the
CSHO is gathering evidence during the inspection to support subsequent alleged violations, penalties
and proposed abatement dates. The decisions made by an employer before or during the inspection
may impact the ability of the employer to fight or mitigate any subsequent alleged OSH Act violation
and penalty. The guidance of a qualified and experienced OSHA lawyer can help the employer with
these decisions.
Fatality or Catastrophe: Since a fatality or catastrophe can results in significant liability,
consultation with legal counsel is always recommended.
Previous Violations: Previous violations can be the basis for a willful or repeat violation. Since
significant liability can attach to a willful or repeat violation, an employer should consult with
legal counsel if it has a previous history with OSHA.

Protection of Trade Secrets
The actions of an employer during an inspection can determine which information obtained during by
OSHA is entitled to trade secretion protection under the OSH Act. Consultation with legal counsel
can assure that the notice of trade secret information provided to OSHA is accurate and complete.

Representation During Interviews of Management Employees
As part of its inspection, OSHA may seek to interview management employees either by consent or
with a subpoena ad testificandum. Management employees are entitled to legal representation during
these interviews. Legal representation can be important for the following reasons:
*

Minimize the risk of written and verbal statements which are harmful to the employer which can
be regarded as admissions binding upon the employer in the event of a citation or criminal
prosecution;

*

Assert privileges which may provide a basis for refusing to assert certain questions, lest the
privileges be waived; and

*

Ensure that no questions be answered which are outside the scope of the inspection, lest such
answers lead to an expanded OSHA inspection.
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Evidence Obtained During an OSHA Inspection Can Present Other Problems for an
Employer
An employer should be mindful that a potential OSHA citation may be only one of the consequences
arising from an inspection. Experienced legal counsel can recognize the bigger picture which may be
at stake.
Referrals: If the CSHO observes a potential violation of a law enforced by another federal agency,
information obtained during an inspection can be shared with the other federal agency.
Civil Litigation: Where the inspection results from a workplace accident, the prospect of civil
litigation stemming from the accident may be a consideration.
Criminal Prosecution: Future criminal prosecution under criminal laws other than the OSH Act
may be a concern for the employer, especially if the inspection follows an employee fatality or
catastrophe.

Decisions Which Require Legal Expertise
Certain decisions made by an employer before or during an OSHA inspection should never be made
without consultation with legal counsel. These decisions include responses to the following
questions:
*

If a search warrant is present by the CSHO authorizing access to the employer’s premises, should
the search warrant be honored or contested?

*

If a subpoena duces tecum is served upon the employer compelling the production of documents,
should the subpoena be honored or contested?

*

If OSHA is investigating an employee fatality, should the employer invoke the Fifth Amendment
for interviews of management employees?
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WHAT IS PERMISSIBLE SCOPE OF AN INSPECTION?
The OSH Act allows an inspection “within reasonable limits.”39

Search Warrant
The permissible scope of an OSHA inspection may be defined by a search warrant. Otherwise, the
scope of an inspection varies depending upon the reasons for the inspection, and the information
obtained during the inspection.

Workplaces
OSHA seeks to inspect one workplace at a time. Accordingly, the initial scope of an inspection is
generally limited to the workplace at which OSHA arrives.
Employer with Multiple Establishments: An employer with more than one establishment
should not assume that OSHA is seeking to inspect all of the establishments.
Multiple Employer Worksites: An OSHA inspection can entail more than one employer if a
single worksite is owned or controlled by more than one employer.

Wall-to-Wall
There are circumstances in which OSHA will be entitled to a comprehensive or “wall-to-wall”
inspection of an entire workplace.
Programmed Inspection: Scheduled inspections of an employer’s workplace are generally
comprehensive.
Investigation: The investigation of a fatality, catastrophe, complaint, referral or direct
observation by a CSHO must bear an “appropriate relationship” to the information which
prompted the inspection. An ‘‘appropriate relationship” may, under certain circumstances,
encompass the entire worksite.

Specific Work Areas and Employees
There are also circumstances in which the permissible scope of an inspection should be limited to
specific work areas and employees.
Programmed Inspection: The scope of a scheduled inspection of an employer’s workplace may be
predicated upon a review of the employer’s records, and therefore limited.
Investigation: The investigation of a fatality, catastrophe, complaint, referral or direct
observation by a CSHO may only entail a part of the employer’s worksite.

Expanded Scope
A more expansive inspection may be warranted if an inspection yields additional information
warranting further investigation.
39

29 U.S.C.§ 657(a)
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IF OSHA HAS NO SEARCH WARRANT, SHOULD
INSPECTION BE PERMITTED OR DENIED?
The answer to this question depends upon answers to other questions.

Does Employer have Authority to Permit or Refuse Entry?
There may be instances where an employer’s worksite is located on public property or property
owned or controlled by another entity. For a worksite located on public property, there may be no
option for an employer but to permit entry. For a worksite located on property owned or controlled by
another entity, the decision as to whether to permit or deny entry may need to be made by the entity
which owns or controls the property.

What Will Happen if Inspection is Refused?
Refusing an inspection on the day requested by OSHA will not avoid an inspection altogether. The
best the employer can hope for by refusing entry is a delay of the inspection. Indeed, an employer who
refuses entry without a warrant should expect the CSHO to return promptly with a warrant within a
day or two.

Are there Reasons to Allow Inspection Without a Warrant?
Under most circumstances, allowing an OSHA inspection without a warrant should be the rule not
the exception. Several considerations support this position:
Cooperation May Have Advantages: Requiring a warrant may send the message (accurate or
inaccurate) that the employer has something to hide or is unconcerned with employee safety.
Such a message may impact OSHA’s actions going forward, including the scrutiny of the
inspection and the willingness of the Area Director to reduce proposed penalties and abatement
dates.
Corrective Actions Will be Discovered: Since the CSHO will have the opportunity to interview
employees as part of an inspection, it should be expected that the employees will be asked about
any working conditions altered after the CSHO was refused entry.
Future Inspections: The decision whether to permit or deny entry without a warrant can affect
how future OSHA inspections are conducted.
Ability to Negotiate and Control Scope of Inspection: In the absence of a search warrant, there
may be some flexibility to agree to a scope of inspection which is being sought to investigate a
complaint, referral, fatality, catastrophe or direct observation by the CSHO. This flexibility may
not be available where the scope of an inspection is determined by a search warrant. Indeed, an
agreement as to the scope of an inspection may be preferable to a CSHO who would otherwise
have to complete paperwork requesting a search warrant and return to complete the inspection at
a later date.

Are there Reasons to Refuse an Inspection Without a Warrant?
Refusing an inspection without a warrant may be justified under certain circumstances.
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Previous History: Prior history between the employer and OSHA may dictate an immediate
defensive posture in anticipation of significant citations, such as willful, repeat or criminal
violations.
Purpose of Inspection: The purpose of the inspection may demand an immediate defensive
posture in anticipation of significant citations, such as willful, repeat or criminal violations.
Small Employer: If there is a legitimate basis for claiming the employer is exempted from
inspection as a small employer, and the CSHO still wishes to proceed, demanding a warrant may
be appropriate.
Invalid Basis: If there is an invalid basis for the inspection, which the CSHO is unwilling to
admit, demanding a warrant may be justified. This would be the case, for example, if the
inspection is prompted by a defective formal employee complaint.
Unreasonable Time: There may be unique and rare circumstances where the timing of an
inspection would result in an unreasonable disruption of the employers’ operations. If the CSHO
is unwilling to schedule the inspection for a different time, refusing entry may be a viable option.
Egregious Hazard: The existence of an egregious hazard which should not be seen by the CHSO
may be a sufficient reason to refuse an inspection. Although the correction of such a hazard may
be discovered by the CSHO in employee interviews, such information may be preferable to direct
observation of the hazard by the CSHO.
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IF OSHA HAS SEARCH WARRANT,
INSPECTION BE PERMITTED OR DENIED?

SHOULD

The answer to this question depends upon answers to other questions which should only be
addressed with the assistance of legal counsel.

Does Employer have Authority to Disregard a Warrant?
There may be instances where an employer’s worksite is located on property owned or controlled by
another entity. For a worksite located on property owned or controlled by another entity, the
decision as to whether to honor a search warrant may need to be made by the entity which owns or
controls the property.

Are There Grounds to Challenge Validity of Search Warrant?
Amongst the issues which can be reviewed by the employer and legal counsel as to a warrant’s validity
are the following:
*

Are there errors in the search warrant?

*

Does probable cause exist for the warrant?

*

Is the inspection based upon a general administrative plan for the enforcement of the OSH Act?

*

Is the inspection based upon a legally sufficient formal employee complaint?

Are there Grounds to Challenge Scope of Inspection Authorized by Search Warrant?
Amongst the issues which can be reviewed by the employer and legal counsel as to a warrant’s scope
are the following:
*

Is the scope of the warrant limited to one workplace?

*

Is scope of the warrant limited to the purpose for which inspection is sought?

Are there Grounds to Challenge Timing and Manner of Inspection Authorized by
Search Warrant?
Amongst the issues which can be reviewed by the employer and legal counsel as to a warrant’s scope
are the following:
*

Will the timing of the authorized inspection result in an unreasonable disruption of the
employers’ operations?

*

Will the manner of the authorized inspection, including employee interviews, result in an
unreasonable disruption of the employers’ operations?
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If there are No Grounds to Challenge the Warrant, Entry Should be Permitted
If the warrant is determined by the employer and legal counsel to be valid and reasonable, entry
should generally be permitted but only in accordance with the terms of the warrant. Refusing entry
risks contempt sanctions.

If there are Grounds to Challenge the Warrant, the Employer Has Two Options
If the warrant is determined by the employer and legal counsel to be invalid or unreasonable, the
employer has two options. Which option is advisable will necessarily depend upon the circumstances.
Deny Entry: The employer can refuse entry and file a motion to quash the warrant. A refusal of
entry will almost always prompt a motion for contempt by OSHA so this option carries the risk of
contempt sanctions if the motion to quash is unsuccessful.
Permit Entry Under Protest: The employer can permit entry under protest and then challenge
the warrant in conjunction with the contest of a citation.
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HOW SHOULD I APPROACH PERMISSIBLE SCOPE
OF THE INSPECTION?
If the employer owns or controls the worksite sought to be inspected, the employer should determine
the permissible scope of the inspection at the very outset of the inspection.

DO Review Search Warrant Carefully
If the inspection is being pursued pursuant to a search warrant, the scope of the inspection authorized
by the warrant should be carefully reviewed by the employer.

DO Review Subpoena Carefully
If a subpoena is tendered with regarding to documents and/or employee interviews, the scope of
document production and interviews authorized by the subpoena should be reviewed carefully by the
employer.

DO Consult Legal Counsel if Search Warrant or Subpoena Authorizes an
Unreasonably Broad or Disruptive Inspection
A search warrant or subpoena may be unreasonably broad, but partial compliance with a search
warrant or subpoena still risks contempt sanctions. Any decision as to how to proceed in the face of
an unreasonably broad search warrant or subpoena, therefore, should only be made in consultation
with legal counsel.

In the Absence of a Search Warrant or Subpoena, DO Attempt to Reach an Agreement
with OSHA as to Scope of Inspection
Regardless of the reason for the inspection, the employer should:
*

Inquire as to specific basis for inspection;

*

Propose a scope of the inspection which is narrowly tailored to the purpose of the inspection. For
a programmed inspection, this proposal may be the entire worksite, but such a proposal impliedly
excludes other work sites. For an inspection which is being conducted as part of an investigation
of a fatality, catastrophe, complaint, referral or observed hazard, the proposal should encompass
the work areas being investigated.

*

Object to any attempt by OSHA to seek a broader inspection;

*

Attempt to reach an agreement with OSHA as to any points of contention;

*

Understand as part of its negotiating position that, failing an agreement, the CSHO could seek
and obtain a search warrant and/or subpoena authorizing a broader inspection than proposed by
the employer.
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DO Avoid any Unnecessary Disclosure of Trade Secrets
Even to reach a compromise with OSHA as to the scope of an inspection, an employer should resist
any effort to expand the scope of the inspection to include areas which entail trade secrets. Greater
protection can be afforded to trade secrets by excluding them from the inspection than by entrusting
OSHA to safeguard the trade secrets.

In the Absence of An Agreement, DO Allow a Limited Inspection As Part of an OSHA
Investigation
In the absence of an agreement regarding the scope of the inspection, the employer may be tempted to
refuse the CSHO access to its worksite. The better option is to allow the inspection to continue
within a reasonable scope. This leaves the decision as to whether to proceed with the inspection with
the CSHO. The employer should understand that this decision may include the following options:
*

Leave the worksite immediately to obtain a search warrant and/or subpoena authorizing a
broader inspection than proposed by the employer.

*

Proceed with the limited inspection and then seek a search warrant and/or subpoena authorizing
a broader inspection.
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PART II: INSPECTION QUESTIONS
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WHAT DO I GENERALLY NEED TO KNOW ABOUT
THE INSPECTION PROCESS?
Inspections of employer’s premises are the primary means by which OSHA enforces the OSH Act.

What Components Comprise the Inspection?
An OSHA inspection generally consists of five components.
The Opening Conference: The opening conference provides the opportunity to (1) address
preliminary matters relevant to the inspection; and (2) determine the scope and logistics of the
other four components of the inspection.
Program and Record Review: The CSHO reviews written programs and records required to be
created and/or maintained by the OSH Act.
Walk-Around Inspection: The CSHO, an employer representative and employee representative
(if any) tour the worksite and observe the operations. The CSHO may collect physical evidence by
taking photographs, video and audio recordings, samples, tests and measurements.
Employee Interviews: The CSHO privately interviews management and non-management
employees regarding the employer’s operations.
Closing Conference: The closing conference provides the opportunity to discuss (1) apparent
violations and other issues discovered during the inspection, (2) timetables for abating hazards,
and (3) the rights and procedures in the event of citations and penalties.

Who Can Participate in the Inspection?
Generally, there are five potential categories of persons who can participate in an OSHA inspection.
CSHO: The CSHO conducts the inspection on behalf of OSHA.
Employee Representative: If there is an employee representative at the employer, the
representative is entitled to participate in the inspection.40 An employee representative may be
any of the following:
*

A representative for purposes of collective bargaining.

*

An employee member of a safety and health committee.

*

An individual employee who has been designated as the employee representative for OSHA
inspections.

Non-Management Employees: Non-management employees participate in the inspection by
providing information during private interviews.
Management Representative(s): One or more management representatives can participate in
the OSHA inspection as (1) the employer’s representatives, or (2) employees to be interviewed in
private by the CSHO. Management representatives, however, generally cannot be present during
the interviews of non-management employees.
40

29 C.F.R. § 1903.8
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Employer’s Legal Counsel: Legal counsel for the employer can generally participate in the OSHA
inspection, but does not have the right to participate in the walk-around inspection or the
interviews of non-management employees.

When Does the Inspection Begin?
A CSHO will generally pursue an inspection immediately, especially if allowed by a search warrant.
Work Hours: An OSHA inspection is generally conducted during work hours so that the CSHO
may observe the employer’s work operations.
Non-Working Hours: In some instances, non-management employee interviews may be
conducted during non-working hours away from the employer’s workplace.

How Long Does the Inspection Last?
There is no time limit on an OSHA inspection. An OSHA inspection can span hours, days or weeks
depending upon the size of an employer’s operation.

What General Rights Does an Employer have During the Inspection?
Other than rights as to who can participate in an OSHA inspection, an employer has several important
rights during the inspection.
Basis of Inspection: It is the right of the employer to know the basis of the inspection. For formal
employee complaints, this right includes the ability to review the content of the complaint save
for information regarding the identity of the complainant.
Protection of Trade Secrets: The OSH Act specifically provides for the protection of trade
secrets which are within the scope of an inspection.41
Avoidance of Unreasonable Disruptions: An OSHA inspection may only be conducted at
“reasonable times, within reasonable limits and in a reasonable manner.” 42 The timing, manner or
length of an inspection should not thus unreasonably disrupt the employer’s operations. Mere
inconvenience is not synonymous with unreasonable disruption. OSHA oversteps its authority
only if a component of the inspection would have a material impact on an employer’s operations.
Enforcement of Safety and Security Rules: OSHA is not immune from an employer’s safety and
security rules. The employer should be able to enforce the same safety and security rules for the
CSHO as are enforced for other visitors to the employer’s premises.

Can the Inspection be Terminated by the Employer?
The consequences of a termination of an inspection by the employer depend upon whether or not the
inspection is being conducted pursuant to a search warrant or subpoena.
Search Warrant or Subpoena: The termination of an inspection risks a contempt finding by the
court that issued the search warrant or subpoena.
No Search Warrant or Subpoena: The termination of the inspection by the employer will likely
prompt the agency to return with a search warrant or subpoena.
41

29 U.S.C. § 664

42

29 U.S.C. § 657(a)
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HOW SHOULD I APPROACH THE INSPECTION
GENERALLY?
Although specific recommendations are provided later regarding each of the five components of the
inspection, the following dos and don’ts apply to all components of the inspection.

DO Show Respect For Employee Health and Safety
Statements that the employer takes employee health and safety seriously certainly carry weight. Still,
it is important for an employer to avoid actions or inactions during an inspection which may betray a
more callous attitude. Amongst the type of statements which should be avoided by an employer are
the following:
“These OSHA Standards are Onerous”: Although many OSHA standards are indeed onerous,
the inspection is neither the time nor the place to argue this point.
“We Are Safe by Industry Standards”: Even reasonable industry standards carry little weight if
contradicted by OSHA standards. OSHA may see an employer which operates by industry
standards rather than OSHA standards as an opportunity to set an example.
“We are Safe, but the Paperwork is Overkill”: OSHA paperwork is unduly burdensome, but
the agency is a government bureaucracy not a private business. This argument will get the
employer nowhere.
“We Are First and Foremost a Business”: Although every employer understands the realities of
capitalism, the CSHO is concerned only with employee safety and health. A CSHO will be
unimpressed by employer statements regarding the following:
*

The slim profitability or recent unprofitability of its operations.

*

Customer demands.

*

Ownership demands.

*

The costs of compliance with the OSH Act.

*

The jobs which could be lost if the employer strictly complied with the OSH Act.

DO Show Respect for the Inspection Process
OSHA views the inspection as an essential tool to police employee health and safety. An OSHA
inspection is neither the time nor the place to attack the process by which the OSH Act is enforced. A
disrespectful attitude toward the inspection can be viewed as indifference toward employee health
and safety. An employer should avoid statements to the effect that:
“The Inspection is an Annoyance”: At no time, should the employer ever indicate that the
inspection is a waste of time or a mere annoyance.
“How Quickly Can the Inspection be Wrapped Up?” Although concluding an inspection
within a reasonable time is a worthwhile goal, the employer should not unreasonably rush the
CSHO.
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DO Regard the CSHO as a Respected Adversary, Not a Friend
The CSHO is not at the worksite to help the employer; the CSHO is there to look for OSH Act
violations and issue citations and penalties. Some helpful hints in communicating with the CSHO
include the following:
DO Be Courteous and Professional: Antagonism toward the CSHO will gain the employer
nothing.
DON’T Leave the CSHO Alone: The whereabouts of the CSHO should be monitored and
controlled by the employer at all times during the inspection. The CSHO should never be left
alone.
Where Applicable, DON’T Presume the CSHO is only Interested in a Limited Inspection:
Even for an inspection which is limited in scope, the CSHO is looking for potential work hazards
in plain sight which may provide the basis of (1) a citation, or (2) an expanded inspection.
DON’T Try to Help, Educate or Impress the CSHO: The employer should answer questions
posed by the CSHO regarding its operations and safety and health practices, but should not
otherwise try to help, educate or impress the CSHO by volunteering information or providing a
demonstration of an operation or procedure. To do so, risks:
*

Providing the CSHO with additional questions to ask.

*

A citation for an unwittingly admitted or demonstrated violation.

*

A basis for expanding the scope of the inspection.

DON’T Presume CSHO Will Fulfill Obligations to Provide Information: There is information
to which an employer is entitled as part of an OSHA inspection which should be communicated
and respected by the CSHO. The employer should not presume that the CSHO will fulfill this
obligation. It may be necessary for an employer to be assertive by inquiring regarding information
to which it is legally entitled.
DON’T Presume CSHO Will Fulfill Promises: A CSHO will not necessarily abide by promises
made to the employer during the inspection. The employer should thus not presume that a CSHO
will fulfill a promise to:
*

Provide copies of evidence collected during the inspection.

*

Waive a citation for a hazard corrected during the inspection.

*

Regard any conversation as being “off-the-record.”

DO Manage Scope of Inspection
The CSHO will not regard it is a priority to limit the scope of the inspection. It is up to the employer
to ensure that a limited scope is followed by the CSHO.

DO Assert Employer Rights
The CSHO will not regard it is a priority to observe the employer’s rights during an OSHA inspection.
It is up to the employer to ensure that the CSHO observes these rights.
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Search Warrant Which Provides for an Unreasonably Disruptive Inspection: If the timing,
manner and method of inspection authorized by a search warrant would result in an unreasonable
disruption of the employer’s operations, the employer should confer with the CSHO about
alternative timing, means or methods. Barring this option, the employer, in consultation with
legal counsel, may wish to explore the option of a motion to quash the warrant.
Search Warrant which Does Not Adequately Protect Trade Secrets: If a proposed method of
inspection authorized by a search warrant would not ensure the confidentiality of the employer’s
trade secrets, the employer should confer with the CSHO about alternative means or methods.
Barring this option, the employer, in consultation with legal counsel, may wish to explore the
option of a motion to quash the warrant.

DON’T Try to Manipulate the Inspection Process
The CSHO has been trained to recognize and get around efforts by an employer to manipulate and
obstruct, rather than simply control, the inspection. Such efforts are risky because they can backfire
and put the employer in a worse position.

DON’T Lie
Providing OSHA will untruthful information risks more citations and penalties, not to mention
potential criminal prosecution if the employer makes a false statement, representation, or certification
in a document required by OSHA.43

DON’T Discriminate
The employer should not discriminate or retaliate against any employee who has provided information
to OSHA during the inspection. Such an action can form the basis of an independent claim under the
OSH Act.44

DON’T Self Incriminate
All information by a management representative during an inspection may be used later by OSHA
against the employer. Amongst the damaging admissions which should be a particularly avoided
during an inspection are the following:
*

Knowledge of a workplace hazard before the inspection.

*

Knowledge of others regarding a workplace hazard.

*

Knowledge that the hazard violated the OSH Act.

*

Knowledge that the hazard presented a risk of death or serious physical harm.

43

29 U.S.C. § 666(g)

44

29 U.S.C. § 660(c)
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DON’T Trust that the Information Collected by the CSHO is Accurate or Unbiased
The CSHO conducting the inspection may be inexperienced, unprepared or even biased. The
information obtained during the walk-around inspection and employee interviews may thus
inaccurately show violations of the OSH Act, where no violations actually exist.

DO Conduct a Simultaneous Inspection
An OSHA inspection provides an employer an opportunity to conduct its own inspection of the
workforce to (1) correct previously unknown hazards, and (2) gather alternative evidence in the event
the evidence gathered by the CSHO is inaccurate. Although the results of the employer’s inspection
will not be privileged from a subpoena, the alternative is to trust the information obtained by the
CSHO. As set forth above, this is not always a wise option.
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WHAT DO I NEED TO KNOW ABOUT THE OPENING
CONFERENCE?
The opening conference typically takes place in an office or conference room and can address several
matters, the most important of which are (1) the nature of the employer’s business, (2) the nature of
the employer’s workforce, (3) the purpose of the inspection, (4) any legal bars to the inspection, (5)
the scope of the inspection, (6) the timing and manner of the inspection, (7) the documents to be
reviewed and their location, (8) the employer’s trade secrets, if any, and (9) the benefits of prompt
abatement of hazards discovered during the inspection.

What is the Nature of Employer’s Business?
There are at least two reasons for a CSHO to inquire about the nature of an employer’s business.
Coverage: The CSHO may ask questions regarding the employer’s business to determine whether
the business affects commerce.
Standards: The determination of whether an employer is required to adhere to a specific OSHA
standard may depend upon the nature of the employer’s business.

What is the Nature of the Employer’s Workforce?
Since only employees are protected by the OSH Act, the CSHO may inquire whether there are any
independent contractors working on-site.

What is the Purpose of the Inspection?
The CSHO should inform the employer as to the purpose of the requested inspection.
Formal Employee Complaint: If the inspection has been prompted by a formal employee
complaint, the CSHO should show the employer a copy of the complaint.
Identity of Complainant Remains Anonymous: The right to inspect the complaint does not
entail the right to know the identity of the person who made the complaint.

Are there any Legal Bars to an Inspection?
One question which can be addressed at the opening conference is whether there are any grounds for
challenging the inspection.
Exemptions: Any question as to whether there is an applicable exemption to the inspection can
be addressed by the CSHO and employer.
Incorrect Employer: Any issue as to whether the employer has been correctly identified or
targeted for inspection can be answered.
Defective Formal Employee Complaint: Subject to consultation with legal counsel, a defective
employee complaint may provide a basis for the employer to challenge the inspection.
Defective Search Warrant: A defective search warrant may be subject to challenge by the
employer in consultation with legal counsel.
32 | P a g e

What is Permissible Scope of Inspection?
Where the inspection is to be limited in scope, the opening conference provides an opportunity to
review a floor plan or map of the areas which will be a part of the inspection.

What Will be Timing, Length and Manner of Inspection?
The opening conference also provides the CSHO and employer to discuss the logistics of the
inspection and how to proceed with the inspection such as to not unreasonably disrupt the employer’s
operation.

What Documents are to be Reviewed and Where are they Located?
At the opening conference, the CSHO and employer will discuss the documents to be reviewed as part of the

inspection and their current location.
Exemptions: The CSHO and employer should try to determine whether any exemptions apply to
the retention of injury and illness records.
Location: Most often, the documents to be reviewed are located at the worksite to be inspected.
If the documents are at a different location, arrangements will be made at the opening conference
for their review.

Are There Any Trade Secrets to Protect?
The OSH Act provides for the protection of trade secrets which are within the scope of an inspection,
but it is incumbent upon the employer to identify areas in the establishment which contain or which
might reveal a trade secret. The opportunity to do so is the opening conference with the CSHO.

What Protections Will be Afforded Trade Secrets?
The opening conference is also the opportunity for the employer and CSHO to reach an understanding
as to how the trade secrets will be protected.

What Happens if Fixable Hazards Are Discovered During the Inspection?
The CSHO should relate the benefits of immediate abatement of hazards detected during the
inspection.
Quick Fix. The CSHO should mention the availability of a penalty reduction for hazards
corrected within 24 hours of the inspection.45

45

CPL 2.45A
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HOW SHOULD
CONFERENCE?

I

APPROACH

THE

OPENING

It is to the employer’s benefit to be proactive during the opening conference.

DO Address Bases for Inspection
An employer should not allow a CSHO to bypass or rush any discussion about the legal or factual
bases for an inspection, even when the CSHO is armed with a search warrant.
DO Ask About Applicable Exemptions: If the CSHO does not inquire about applicable
exemptions to OSHA’s inspection or record-keeping requirements, the employer should do so if
there is even an arguable basis for claiming an exemption.
DO Ask About Purpose of Inspection: If the CSHO does not explain the purpose of the
inspection with sufficient clarity or detail, the employer should press the CSHO for further
information as to the issues to be investigated.
DO Take Time to Review Complaint(s): If the basis for the inspection is one or more formal
employee complaints, the employer should review the complaints thoroughly before proceeding
with the inspection. A defective complaint may provide a basis to challenge the inspection.
DON’T Challenge coverage: Although questions about an employer’s business are routinely part
of the opening conference, employers should not expect coverage to be a basis for challenging at
the outset the legitimacy of the inspection.

DO Press for an Inspection Plan
An inspection plan can help avoid an overly broad inspection which unreasonably disrupts the
employer’s operations.
DO Address Route of Walk-Around Inspection: At the opening conference, the employer and
the CSHO should determine a logical route for the walk-around inspection. Amongst, the
considerations which should be addressed by the route are the following:
*

Minimization of the disruption of the employer’s operations.

*

The scope which will be permitted for the inspection; and

*

Limitation of plain view of operations outside the scope of the inspection.

DO Address Methods of Collecting Evidence Which CSHO Anticipates Using During
Inspection: Determining these methods can assist the employer in making preparations for
collecting evidence as part of its inspection.
DO Address Timing and Length of Walk-Around Inspection: If the employer representative or
employee representative is needed elsewhere for a time, this issue can be addressed by the
inspection plan.
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DO Press for an Interview Schedule
An interview schedule can help minimize the disruption of an employer’s operation while employees
are being interviewed. Whether the timing, length, location or manner of employee interviews will
unreasonably disrupt an employer’s operation may be affected by such issues as:
*

The demands of the operations for which the employee is responsible.

*

The ability of the employee to be away from his/her work station for an interview.

DO Request a Written List of Records and Programs to be Produced
A search warrant or subpoena may provide a specific list of documents to be produced in conjunction
with the inspection. In the absence of a Search warrant or subpoena, the employer should:
*

Request that the CSHO provide a list describing the specific documents sought to be reviewed.

*

Provide a written list to the CSHO, based upon document requests related verbally by the CSHO,
with a request for confirmation that the list is complete.

DO Address Trade Secrets
The CSHO should not be trusted to question the employer regarding trade secrets at the opening
conference. The employer must be prepared to identity with some particularity:
*

The trade secrets which it wishes to protect; and

*

The procedures which it requires to protect such information which may include allowing the
employer to gather the information requested by OSHA so that the information can be
appropriately labeled as a trade secret.

DO Conduct A Management Walk-Around Inspection
While the opening conference is ongoing, other management employees should be conducting a quick
walk-around inspection of the work site to:
*

Identify and correct any workplace hazards;

*

Clean up any spills or debris in employee work areas;

*

Ensure that all employees are wearing required personal protective equipment; and

*

Ensure that no employees are in violations of safety and health policies.
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WHAT DO I NEED TO KNOW ABOUT THE RECORDS
AND PROGRAMS REVIEW?
The CSHO has the right to conduct a review of required and relevant safety and health
documentation.

When Does the Record and Program Review Take Place?
A document review may generally be conducted at any time after the opening conference. A document
review may be conducted:
*

At the time of the physical inspection; or

*

At a later time where requested by or agreed to by CSHO.

Where Does the Record and Program Review Take Place?
If the documents are located on-site, a document review generally takes place where the employer’s
documents are located. Documents may also be scanned or copied and forwarded to OSHA where:
*

They are not located at the employer’s work site; or

*

The CSHO requests or agrees to such manner of production.

What is the Scope of the Record and Program Review?
The permissible scope of the record and program review is generally determined by (1) the permissible
scope of the overall inspection, and (2) the time period for which records and programs must be
maintained pursuant to an applicable OSHA standard or regulation.
Records Regarding Other Worksites: Records generally do not need to be produced for any
worksite other than the one being inspected by OSHA.
Records Outside Requested Time Period: Records generally need not be produced which
predate the time period required by an applicable OSHA standard or regulation.

What Documents are Subject to the Record and Program Review?
Documents legally required to be created, posted and/or maintained by an applicable OSHA standard
or regulation, or which are relevant to the scope of the inspection, may be requested by the agency.
OSHA Poster: The CSHO will determine whether the employer has prominently posted in an
appropriate location the “OSHA Job Safety and Health: It’s the Law” poster.
Written Comprehensive Safety and Health Program: Although required by some states, the
OSH Act does not require employers to adopt a written comprehensive safety and health
program. If the employer has such a program, however, the CSHO will ask to see it.
Injury and Illness Records: Unless the employer is exempted from maintaining such records, the
CSHO will review an employer’s injury and illness records for three years. These records may
include:
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*

The employer’s OSHA-300 logs, the total hours worked and the average number of employees
for each year, and a roster of current employees.

*

The employers’ OSHA-301’s if the CSHO has questions regarding a specific case on the
OSHA-300 logs.

*

Any records maintained in an on-site medical facility.

Written Programs and Records Mandated by OSHA Standards: The CSHO will also review
programs and records mandated by applicable OSHA standards. These records may include the
following as applicable:
*

Medical and exposure records.

*

Hazard communication program and records, including material safety data sheets.

*

Lockout/tagout program and records.

*

Emergency evacuation program.

*

Machinery and equipment maintenance records.

*

Respirator program and records.

*

Training logs.
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HOW SHOULD I APPROACH THE RECORD AND
PROGRAM REVIEW?
An employer should only provide the documents to which OSHA is legally entitled under an
applicable OSHA standard or regulation or subpoena or which is otherwise relevant to the scope of
the inspection.

DO Determine Nature
Demanded/Requested

and

Scope

of

Records

and

Programs

Being

In response to a search warrant, subpoena or request by OSHA, the employer should determine:
*

The specific records and programs being demanded/requested;

*

The time period, as applicable, for which such records and programs are being
demanded/requested; and

*

The physical areas (i.e, worksites, departments, etc.) as to which such records and programs are
being demanded/requested.

DO Determine Which Records and Programs Are Responsive to Demand/Request
In response to a search warrant, subpoena or request by OSHA, the employer should determine what
records and programs are responsive to the demand/request.

DO Determine Which Records and Programs Will Actually Be Produced to OSHA
Once a determination has been made by the employer regarding the documents being
demanded/requested by OSHA a determination must also be made as to which documents will
actually be produced to the agency. If this decision is being made in the face of a search warrant or
subpoena, legal counsel should be consulted. Amongst the considerations in this decision are the
following:
*

Is OSHA requesting/demanding records and programs which are different than those which are
required by its regulations to be created, maintained or produced?

*

Is OSHA requesting/demanding records and programs which predate the retention period
prescribed by its regulations?

*

Is OSHA requesting/demanding records and programs which relate to a physical area (work site,
department, etc.) which is outside the permissible scope of the inspection?

*

Is OSHA requesting/demanding records which the employer is exempted from maintaining or
producing?

*

Is OSHA requesting/demanding records which would be unduly burdensome to assemble and
produce?
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DON’T Produce Other Records or Programs
The only documents which should be produced to OSHA are those that the employer has determined
should be produced to the agency. Care should be taken to ensure that other documents are not (1)
grouped with the document production, or (2) left in plain sight of the CSHO. Providing other records
could provide the impetus for a broadened inspection, or worse, an unexpected citation.

DO Label Documents Which Contain Trade Secrets
All documents produced to OSHA which contain trade secrets should be clearly labeled as such to
prevent any misunderstanding as to the protection to be afforded such documents.

DO Record Identity of Documents Produced to OSHA
The employer should create and maintain a written record of all documents produced to OSHA. This
record will assist the employer in the event (1) a citation is issued based upon the records, or (2)
OSHA later claims that required documents were not produced.
Bates Labels: Many copiers and scanners include the ability to include bates labels on each page
copied. Employers should use this option where available.
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WHAT DO I NEED TO KNOW ABOUT THE WALKAROUND INSPECTION?
The CSHO has the right to conduct a physical inspection of all or a part of the employer’s operations
to gather relevant evidence.

When Does the Walk-Around Inspection Take Place?
A walk-around inspection may generally be conducted after the opening conference at a time which
does not unreasonably disrupt the employer’s operations.

How Long is the Walk-Around Inspection?
There is no time limit on the walk-around inspection but the inspection should not be so long as to
unreasonably disrupt an employer’s operation.

What Determines the Manner and Route of Walk-Around Inspection?
Generally, the CSHO will make the determination of the manner and route of the walk-around
inspection subject to the following considerations:
*

The availability of the management representative or employee representative who will be
accompanying the CSHO.

*

Compliance with the employer’s health and safety rules and procedures.

*

Avoidance of the unreasonable disruption of the employer’s operations.

Who Can Participate in the Walk-Around Inspection?
One management representative at a time and one employee representative at a time have the right to
accompany the CSHO on the walk-around inspection.
Alternating: The right of accompaniment can be alternated amongst management representatives
as determined by the employer.

What Does the CSHO Do During the Walk-Around Inspection?
For a substantial part of the walk-around inspection, the CSHO will be simply visually observing the
health and safety conditions of the workplace and taking notes. The CSHO will also be collecting
physical evidence.
Photographs: Subject to any prior understanding as to the protection of the employer’s trade
secrets, the CSHO may photograph the employer’s workers and work operations.
Audio and Visual Recordings: Subject to any prior understanding as to the protection of the
employer’s trade secrets, the CSHO may use a video camera and/or an audio recorder during the
walk-around inspection.
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Samples: The CSHO may collect air, water and chemical samples, and swipe samples from
workplace surfaces.
Monitoring: The CSHO may monitor or take instrument readings as to employee exposure to
toxic fumes, contaminants, chemicals, gases, dusts, radioactivity, etc.
Measurements: The CSHO may take measurements of lighting and noise levels, as well as any
measurements of distance which may be required by an OSHA standard.
Employee Interviews: Interviews of non-management employees can also take place during the
walk-around inspection.

Does the CSHO Provide Feedback During the Walk-Around Inspection?
A CSHO will normally, but not always, advise the management representative of the existence of
workplace hazards which can be immediately or quickly abated.
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HOW SHOULD I APPROACH THE WALK-AROUND
INSPECTION?
Since much of the evidence to support an OSHA citation is gathered during the walk-around
inspection, an employer must be diligent in protecting its interests.

DO Have an Employer Representative Accompany the CSHO
The OSH Act specifically allows a management representative to accompany the CSHO on the walkaround inspection.46 The employer should exercise this right.

DO Require the CSHO to Obey the Employer’s Safety and Security Rules and
Procedures
If visitors to an employer’s workplace are expected to be familiar with and follow certain safety and
security rules and procedures, the CSHO should be expected to be familiar with and follow the same
rules and procedures. Otherwise, the CSHO may discern that the employer does not take health and
safety seriously
Personal Protective Equipment: Where personal protective equipment is required of visitors and
employees, such equipment should be provided to and required of the CSHO.
Orientation and Training: The CSHO should not be presumed to be familiar with an employer’s
safety rules and procedures. The CSHO should be provided the same orientation and training
provided other visitors to an employer’s workplace. Typical rules and procedures which should
be reviewed with the CSHO include:
*

Emergencies, such as fires, spills and exposures

*

Evacuation routes and procedures

*

Quarantine procedures.

Security: If visitors are required to log in or wear visitor badges, the same requirements should be
imposed upon the CSHO.

Where Applicable, DO Limit the Scope of the Inspection
Where the permissible scope of the walk-around inspection is limited, the employer should police and
monitor the inspection to make sure that permissible scope is not exceeded by the CSHO. Allowing a
broader inspection than otherwise permitted cannot be undone after the inspection.
DO Limit the Ability of the CSHO to Observe Employer Operations Outside the Scope of the
Inspection: To the extent possible, the employer should limit the ability of the CSHO to observe
any operations outside the scope of the anticipated inspection. For example, doors to such
operations should remain closed. Even if an operation is outside the scope of the intended
inspection, what the CSHO is able to view in plain sight can nevertheless be the basis for:
*
46

A citation for an OSH Act violation observed by the CHSO.

29 U.S.C. § 657(e)
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*

An expanded inspection based upon hazards observed by the CSHO.

DO Deny Any Request for a Detour from Planned Inspection Route: The employer should
deny the CSHO deny access to areas, if any, outside the scope of the inspection. Accommodating a
request for a detour even for an innocuous reason such as restroom, water or cigarette break,
risks:
*

A citation for a violation viewed by the CHSO during the detour.

*

An expansion of the inspection based upon violations viewed by the CSHO during the
detour.

DO Fight Any Attempted Expansion of Scope of Inspection: If the CSHO asks to expand the
scope of the inspection, based upon information learned during the inspection, the employer
should:
*

Discuss the request with the CSHO in much the same manner as the opening conference.
Decisions regarding the scope of the inspection should not be made during the walk-around
inspection.

*

Inquire as to the CSHO’s basis for expanding the scope of the inspection; and

*

Object if the basis is without merit.

DON’T Attempt to Shield the CSHO From Any Operations
The employer should not attempt to shield the view of the CSHO from areas within the scope of the
inspection. Such an effort will likely fail and only draw the CSHO’s attention to the work area sought
to be shielded.

DO Collect Evidence
During the inspection, the CSHO will be collecting physical evidence in the form of photographs,
video and audio recordings, samples, tests and measurements. The employer’s representative should
do the same in anticipation of a citation to be defended.
DO Observe Everything from the Same Perspective as the CSHO: If the CSHO takes a
photograph or video recording of a person or work location, the employer’s representative should
also take a photograph or recording of the person or work location from the same perspective
DO Simultaneously Collect Same Physical Evidence as Collected by CSHO: To the extent
necessary equipment is available, for every audio recording, measurement, test or sample taken by
the CSHO, the same recording, measurement, test or sample should also be taken by the employer
representative.
DO Talk With Employees About Hazards Discovered During Inspection: With an eye toward
collecting evidence only, the employer should ask employees about hazards discovered during the
inspection.

DO Take Notes
The employer representative should take meticulous notes during the walk-around inspection
regarding:
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*

Specific operations observed by the CSHO; and

*

Questions asked by the CSHO

DO Identity Operations Which Are Trade Secrets
All operations observed, photographed or videotaped by OSHA which contain trade secrets should be
clearly identified as such to prevent any misunderstanding as to the protection to be afforded such
observations, photographs or videotapes.

DO Immediately Address Detected Hazards
Certain hazards detected during a walk-around inspection can and should be immediately addressed
by an employer. Amongst the actions which can be taken by an employer during an inspection
include the following:
Employee Discipline: Employees observed to be engaged in conduct in violation of the employer’s
safety rules should be immediately disciplined. This action may risk alerting the CSHO to the
violation, but the employer may risk more by doing nothing in response to a violation which the
CSHO has already recorded.
Fix Hazards: A hazard which can is capable of being fixed during the inspection should be
immediately corrected.
Discontinue Hazardous Work: Although discontinuing work until a hazard is corrected may be
a drastic measure, the risk of doing nothing may be citation for a willful violation of the OSH Act.

DON’T Conduct Demonstrations
There is no obligation on the part of the employer to perform demonstrations of work operations not
otherwise being performed at the time of the inspection. To do so, risks:
*

Providing the CSHO with additional questions to ask.

*

A citation for an unwittingly admitted or demonstrated violation.

*

A basis for expanding the scope of the inspection.

DO Object to Disruptive Impromptu Interviews of Non-Management Employees
Frequently, a CSHO will attempt to conduct private impromptu interviews of non-management
employees at their work stations during the walk-around inspection. Such impromptu interviews are
not improper but may be an unreasonable disruption of the employer’s operations if:
*

They prevent the employee from performing an essential job task; or

*

They take the employee away from his or her job duties for an extended period of time.

DON’T Respond to Dangerous Questions
Frequently, a CSHO will ask questions of the employer representative during the walk-around
inspection which call for damaging admissions. The employer should avoid any response to these
questions lest they bind the employer to a potentially damaging admission:
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*

How long has this hazard been here?

*

Have there been any close calls due to the hazard?

*

Who knows about this hazard?

*

You know this is a violation, right?

*

You know someone can be seriously injured or die because of this hazard, right?

DO Defer Questions If Interview is Anticipated in Presence of Legal Counsel
Frequently, a CSHO will ask questions of the employer representative during the walk-around
inspection with legal counsel absent. Answering such questions should be deferred until an interview
where legal counsel can be present.
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WHAT DO I NEED TO KNOW ABOUT EMPLOYEE
INTERVIEWS IN GENERAL?
OSHA has the right to interview any employee of an employer. Certain information is relevant to both
management and non-management employees.

When Can an Employee Interview Take Place?
An employee interview may be conducted after the opening conference, at a time which does not
unreasonably disrupt the employer’s operations.

How Long Can an Employee Interview Last?
There is no time limit on an employee interview but the interview should not be so long as to
unreasonably disrupt an employer’s operation.

Where Can an Employee Interview Take Place?
Generally, interviews of employees take place in locations where the privacy of the interview is
assured.
Employee’s Work Station or Office: An interview can take place at an employee’s work station
or office during the walk-around inspection.
Private Setting: An interview can also occur at the employer’s workplace in a setting, such as an
office, conference room or break room, where others are not present.
Outside Workplace: An interview may even take place in a location away from the employer’s
workplace.

Can an Employee Refuse to be Interviewed?
The answer to this question depends upon whether an interview of the employee is encompassed by
an applicable warrant or subpoena.
There is an Applicable Warrant or Subpoena: An employee’s refusal to be interviewed risks
contempt for the employer and/or employee.
There is No Applicable Warrant or Subpoena: An employee can refuse to be interviewed, but
OSHA has the ability, depending upon the need for information from the employee, to later
compel an interview through a subpoena.

What Types of Questions Are Generally Asked of all Employees?
Typical areas of inquiry by a CSHO during an interview include:
Identifying and Contact Information: Every employee will generally be asked to provide his or
her name, home address and telephone number.
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Position and Responsibilities: Every employee will be asked to describe his or her position and
job responsibilities.

Can an Employee Refuse to be Recorded During an Interview?
Yes. There is no requirement that an employee allow an audio or visual recording to be made of the
interview.

Can an Employee Refuse to Sign an Interview Statement?
Although an employee will generally be asked to sign a written interview statement prepared by the
CSHO, there is no requirement that the employee actually do so.

Can an Employee Terminate the Interview?
The answer to this question again depends upon whether the interview is encompassed by an
applicable warrant or subpoena.
There is an Applicable Warrant or Subpoena: An employee’s termination of the interview
before completion risks contempt for the employer and/or employee.
There is No Applicable Warrant or Subpoena: An employee can terminate the interview, but
OSHA has the ability, depending upon the need for further information from the employee, to
later compel a completion of the interview through a subpoena.
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WHAT DO I SPECIFICALLY NEED TO KNOW ABOUT
INTERVIEWS OF NON-MANAGEMENT EMPLOYEES?
OSHA is generally more protective of interviews of non-management employees since it is anticipated
they will be more forthright about health and safety hazards.

Can an Employer Brief a Non-Management Employee Beforehand about the Interview
Process and his or her Rights?
Yes, but such an action carries the risk of a claim by the employee or the CSHO that the employer has
expressly or impliedly threatened the employee with discrimination if he or she provided damaging
information during the interview.

Who Can be Present During Interview of a Non-Management Employee?
Generally, an interview of a non-management employee is attended only by the employee and the
CSHO. Only upon request by an employee, may other persons be present.
Employee Representative: A request that an interview be attended an employee or union
representative will generally be honored by OSHA.
Personal Attorney: A request that an interview be attended an employee’s personal attorney will
also generally be honored by OSHA.
Employer’s Attorney: A request that an interview by attended by the employer’s attorney will be
viewed with suspicion by the CSHO that the employer is interfering with the interview. Such a
request will be referred to the office of the Regional Solicitor of Labor for a decision.
Management Representative: A request that an interview by attended by a management
representative will be viewed with suspicion by the CSHO that the employer is interfering with
the interview. The request may or may not be honored by the CSHO.

What Questions Are Typically Asked of a Non-Management Employee?
Typical areas of inquiry by a CSHO during an interview of a non-management employee include:
Communications with Management Representatives: Communications with management
representatives prior to the interview regarding the interview process are at the top of the list of
questions likely to be asked of any non-management employee.
Advance Notice: An employee may be asked about any indications the employer had advance
notice of the inspection.
Knowledge of Hazards: For workplace hazards identified before or during the inspection, an
employee may be asked whether the employer was aware of the hazard or its severity.
Duration of Hazards: For workplace hazards identified before or during the inspection, an
employee may be asked how long the hazards have existed.
Exposure to Hazards: For workplace hazards identified before or during the inspection, an
employee may be asked the number and extent of employee exposures to the hazard.
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Recent Abatements of Hazards: For workplace hazards identified before the inspection, the
CSHO may ask an employee about any recent abatements of hazardous working conditions,
including any changes made the day of the inspection.
Accuracy of Injury and Illness Records: A CSHO may ask a non-management employee
questions about injuries or illnesses which may not have been recorded by the employer on the
OSHA Form 300.
Health and Safety Program: The CSHO may ask employees about the employer’s health and
safety program, including the frequency and content of safety and health training and meetings.

Can an Employer De-Brief a Non-Management Employee Afterwards about the
Interview?
Yes, but such an action carries the risk of a later claim by the employee or the CSHO that the employer
retaliated or discriminated against the employee based upon information provided during the
interview.

49 | P a g e

HOW SHOULD I APPROACH NON-MANAGEMENT
EMPLOYEE INTERVIEWS?
Interviews of non-management employees can be a fruitful source of information regarding OSH Act
violations, so some approach by the employer is recommended. Since an employer is subject to claims
of unlawful intimidation or retaliation for any action taken, however, caution is advised.

DO Provide Employees With Authorization for Interviews
Where a brief interview would not unreasonably disrupt the employer’s operation, express
authorization should be provided by the employer to a non-management employee for an interview by
the CSHO.

DO be Attentive to Risks and Benefits of Pre-Interview Orientations
Orientations with non-management employees about the interview process have benefits and risks
which should be carefully weighed by an employer. The benefits include:
*

Controlling the manner in which interviews are conducted by informing the employee of rights
which may not be communicated by the CSHO.

*

Empowering an employee to be assertive about requesting these rights by removing the element
of intimidation from the CSHO.

The risks include:
*

The employee and CSHO may interpret a pre-interview communication as intimidation especially
if an employee is advised that he can ask a management representative to be present during the
interview.

*

The CSHO may seek to conduct interviews, in whole or in part, away from the employer’s
premises during non-working hours when the employer has no control over the interview
process.

DO Offer to Answer any Questions About Interview Process
Even if an employer elects to forego a pre-interview orientation, the employer should offer, in the
presence of the CSHO, to answer any questions about the interview process. If the employee asks
questions, then the employer is simply responding to questions by one of its employees.

DO Monitor the Clock
If an interview takes an employee from assigned duties for an unreasonable period of time, the
employer should ask that the interview be terminated so the employee can return to the assigned
duties.
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DON’T Threaten or Intimidate the Employees
The employer should not attempt to intimidate any non-management employee into (1) refusing an
interview with the CSHO, (2) providing only information supportive of the employer, or (3)
requesting that a management representative be present for an interview. Such intimidation would
itself be a violation of the OSH Act.

DON’T Debrief the Employee after the Interview
No non-management employee should be debriefed by the employer after an interview with OSHA.
There are less risk alternatives to determine the content of the interview.

DO Interview Employees Promptly After the Inspection
Since the employer will be conducting its own investigation of the workplace simultaneously with the
CSHO, it makes sense that the employer would also interview its employees regarding potential work
hazards. Although any interview of a non-management employee after an inspection carries the risk of
a claim of retaliation, the employer can minimize this risk by asking open-ended questions:
*

Are there any hazards in your work area which need to be addressed?

*

Have any injuries occurred as a result of this hazard which have not been reported?

*

Would additional safety training minimize the hazard?
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WHAT DO I SPECIFICALLY NEED TO KNOW ABOUT
INTERVIEWS OF MANAGEMENT EMPLOYEES?
OSHA generally seeks to obtain information from management employees which will constitute
admissions binding upon the employer.

Who Can be Present During Interview of a Management Employee?
Generally, an interview of a management employee is attended by the employee, the CSHO and one or
more other persons.
Personal Attorney: A request that an interview be attended an employee’s personal attorney will
generally be honored by OSHA.
Employer’s Attorney: A request that an interview by attended by the employer’s attorney should
be honored by the CSHO.
Management Representative: A request that an interview by attended by a management
representative should be honored by the CSHO.

What Types of Questions Are Specifically Asked of a Management Employee?
Typical areas of inquiry by a CSHO during an interview of a management employee include:
Efforts to Comply with OSH Act: The CSHO will likely ask questions to determine whether the
employer makes a good faith effort to comply with the obligations of the OSH Act.
Health and Safety Program: The CSHO may ask a management employee about the employer’s
health and safety program, including the frequency and content of safety and health training and
meetings.
Knowledge of Hazards: For workplace hazards identified before or during the inspection, a
management employee may be asked whether he or she observed or was aware of the hazard.
Knowledge of Others: For workplace hazards identified before or during the inspection, a
management employee may be asked whether other management employees were also aware of
the hazard.
Knowledge of Severity of Hazards: For workplace hazards identified before or during the
inspection, a management employee may be asked whether he or she was aware the hazard
presented a risk of death or serious physical injury.
Knowledge of Violations: For workplace hazards identified before or during the inspection, a
management employee may be asked whether he or she was aware that the hazard violated the
OSH Act.
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HOW SHOULD I APPROACH
EMPLOYEE INTERVIEWS?

MANAGEMENT

Since damaging admissions by a management employee are binding upon an employer, the employer
should endeavor to minimize the risks of such damaging admissions.

DO Have Legal Counsel Present During Interviews
As previously observed, the presence of legal counsel serves three primary purposes:
*

Minimize the risk of written and verbal statements which are harmful to the employer which can
be regarded as admissions binding upon the employer in the event of a citation or criminal
prosecution;

*

Assert privileges which may provide a basis for refusing to assert certain questions, lest the
privileges be waived; and

*

Ensure that no questions be answered which are outside the scope of the inspection, lest such
answers lead to an expanded OSHA inspection.

DO Conduct the Interviews in Private
The CSHO may be less concerned about the privacy of interviews of management employees than
non-management employees. Still, non-management employees should not be able to overhear an
interview of a non-management employee.

DON’T Volunteer Information
Only the questions propounded by the CSHO should be answered during an interview of a
management employee. Volunteering information risks:
*

Providing the CSHO with additional questions to ask.

*

A citation for an unwittingly admitted violation.

*

A basis for expanding the scope of the inspection.

DON’T Self Incriminate
The management employee should not admit to OSH Act violations. Some dangerous questions which
call for self-incrimination include:
*

How long has this hazard been here?

*

Have there been any close calls due to the hazard?

*

Who knows about this hazard?

*

You know this is a violation, right?

*

You know someone can be seriously injured or die because of this hazard, right?
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DON’T Guess
A management employee should never guess or speculate about anything during the interview with
the CSHO. The CSHO may interpret guesses or speculation as accurate.

DO Refuse to Answer Questions Which Are Beyond the Scope of the Inspection
If the CSHO asks questions which are outside the scope of the inspection, a management employee
should refuse to answer the question.

DO Identify Information Which Constitutes a Trade Secret
Where an interview of a management calls for disclosure of a trade secret, the information should be
clearly identified as a trade secret.

DO Memorialize Content of Interviews
The employer should memorialize the content of interviews of management employees by:
*

Tape or video recording the content of the interviews; and/or

*

Taking meticulous notes of all questions and answers during the

interviews.
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WHAT DO I NEED TO KNOW ABOUT THE CLOSING
CONFERENCE?
The closing conference can address several matters, the most important of which are (1) OSHA Act
violations discovered during the inspection, (2) proposed abatement dates; and (3) the rights and
procedures in the event of citations and penalties.

When Does the Closing Conference Take Place?
The closing conference occurs after all other components of the inspection have been completed. This
may be on the same date all of the other components have been completed or at a later date.

Where Does the Closing Conference Take Place?
The closing conference may take place at the employer’s place of business, but may also occur by
telephone.

Must a Closing Conference Take Place Before a Citation is Issued?
No. The closing conference is ostensibly for the benefit of the employer. Accordingly, OSHA may
make only a minimal effort to schedule a closing conference in person or by telephone. If the employer
does not take advantage of the opportunity provided by the agency, a closing conference may be
omitted from the inspection process.
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HOW SHOULD
CONFERENCE?

I

APPROACH

THE

CLOSING

The closing conference is the final opportunity to communicate with OSHA before the issuance of a
citation.

DO Take Advantage of Closing Conference
If a citation is possibly forthcoming, the closing conference may provide an opportunity to understand
the bases of the citation. Such an understanding can prove to be beneficial in evaluating the
employer’s options in the event of a citation.

DON’T Admit Anything
During the closing conference, the employer should never (1) admit the accuracy of an alleged OSH
Act violation, or (2) acknowledge the feasibility of an abatement date proposed by the CSHO.

DO Advise of Abatements
The closing conference provides the employer to advise of any hazards which have already been
abated.
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PART III: POST-INSPECTION QUESTIONS
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WHAT SHOULD I DO/NOT
INSPECTION IS CONCLUDED?

DO

NOW

THAT

The employer should anticipate that a citation may be forthcoming even if (1) no violations have been
cited during the closing conference, or (2) no closing conference has occurred.

DO Promptly Correct Hazards Identified During Inspection
For those hazards which could not be abated at the time of the inspection, every reasonable effort
should be made to correct the hazards promptly.
Quick Fix. A penalty reduction may be available for hazards corrected within 24 hours of
identification during the walk-around inspection.47

DON’T Retaliate Against Employees Who Cooperated in Inspection
To avoid a potential violation of the OSH Act, the employer should not undertake any decisions or
practices which retaliate against or punish an employee for (1) agreeing to be interviewed by the
CSHO, or (2) not requesting the attendance of a management representative during the interview, or
(3) providing information to the CSHO which is potentially damaging to the employer.

DO Follow up With OSHA Regarding Trade Secrets
Don’t assume that OSHA will remember communications during the inspection regarding trade
secrets. The employer should thus follow-up in writing with OSHA regarding (1) the identity of any
trade secrets encompassed by the inspection, and (2) the substance of any agreements or
understandings reached between the employer and OSHA regarding the identified trade secrets.

47

CPL 2.45A
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WHAT IF OSHA FOUND A VIOLATION?
The discovery of one or more alleged violations of the OSH Act during an inspection begins a legal
process against the employer initiated by OSHA.

An Inspection Report Will Be Prepared
Upon completion of the inspection, the CSHO will prepare a case file for the OSHA Area Director.

A Citation Will Be Issued By The Area Director
The only OSH Act violation which can escape a citation is a de minimus violation. If an OSHA Area
Director believes from a review of the CSHO’s case file that another type of violation has occurred, he
must issue a written citation.48
No Avoiding Citation: There is nothing an employer can say or do during an inspection to avoid
a citation for a violation. Neither the CSHO nor the Area Director has the discretion to withhold
a citation.
Citations Must Be Posted: A citation must be posted by the employer “at or near each place a
violation referred to in the citation for a period of 3 days or until the violation is abated, whichever
is longer. 49

Imminent Danger
For violations or hazards which present an imminent danger of death or serious physical harm, OSHA
can seek injunctive relief in court including a temporary restraining order if the employer does not
immediately abate the hazard.50

Criminal Prosecution
A criminal violation may be considered for criminal prosecution by the U.S. Department of Justice.

48

29 U.S.C. § 658(a).

49

19 U.S.C. § 568(b); 29 C.F.R. § 1903.6
29 U.S.C. § 662

50
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